
http://democracy.peakdistrict.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx? MId=2289&Ver=4mg 
http://chatsworth:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=2289 

Peak District Local Access Forum 
 

On: Thursday 19 September 2019 
 
At: Aldern House, Board room 
 

 

Agenda 
 

Start: 10.00 am 

 
   

1 Apologies  

   

2 Minutes from the last meeting, 6 June 2019  

   

3 Matters Arising  

 ● Mend our Mountains Projects Mike Rhodes 

   

4 Appointment of Chair & Vice Chair Mike Rhodes 

   

5 Presentation on Outdoor Swimming  

   

6 Mountain biking in the Upper Derwent - presentation  

   

7 Explorer Bus Service David Marsden 

   

8 Derbyshire CC Report Gill Milward 

   

9 Access Updates including Reviews of Directions Sue Smith 

   

10 Green Lanes update Sue Smith 

   

11 National Park Management Plan and Advisory Group John Thompson 

 ● Countryside Code Workshop 11th July and Follow Up (Roly 

Smith) 

 

 ● Climate Change Workshop in Buxton on 15th October (Geoff 

Nickolds) 

 

   

12 Members' feedback Charlotte Gilbert, 

John Thompson, 

Ally Turner 

 ● Meeting with Staffordshire and Wolverhampton LAF 

representatives on 16th August 

 

   

13 Any Other Business  

   

14 Date and venue of next meeting  

   

15 Aldern House on 5th December  

  

 

 

 

*Background papers available 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

   

   

   

   



 

1 

Peak District Local Access Forum 
 
Minutes of the Meeting held on Thursday 6 June 2019 
at Longshaw Estate. 

 
Members Present: John Thompson (Chair) 

  
Bob Berzins Joe Dalton 
Edwina Edwards Richard Entwistle 
Charlotte Gilbert Alastair Harvey 
Louise Hawson Jez Kenyon 
Andrew Murley Geoff Nickolds 
Paul Richardson Roly Smith 
Jon Stewart Ally Turner 
Sue Weatherley  

  

Others Present:  
  

Mike Rhodes, (PDNPA) (Secretary) 
Gill Millward, (DCC) 
Rich Pett, (PDNPA) 

Sue Smith, (PDNPA) 
Richard Taylor, (DCC) 
Jason Spencer, (Minutes) 

  
  

1. 1 APOLOGIES & WELCOME  

1.  
 Apologies had been received from Cllr Jason Atkin, Clare Griffin, Adge Last and Dan 

Richmond-Watson. It was noted that John Hall and John Walton were no longer members of 
the Forum. 
 
The Chair welcomed Adrian Barraclough, Director of Commercial Development and 
Engagement at the National Park Authority, to his second meeting of the Forum, and 
welcomed back Edwina Edwards to her first meeting following her recent travels in India. 

2.  

2. 2 MINUTES FROM THE LAST MEETING, 14 MARCH 2019  

3.  
 The minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2019 were approved as a correct record with 

thanks to Karen Harrison. 

4.  
3. 3 MATTERS ARISING  

5.  
 Peak District National Park Foundation – It was noted that a helpful report had been 

circulated and the Chair asked that Sarah Slowther be thanked for providing it. The Forum 
with its members and links was encouraged to support the Foundation’s 70k for 70 appeal. 
 
Mend Our Mountains – Bob Berzins requested more information on the status of the Great 
Ridge route. It was confirmed that the path was located on open access land. 
 
Monsal Trail – Following the discussion at the last meeting, Charlotte Gilbert reported that 
she had attended a meeting of the National Park Authority on 24 May and spoke on behalf of 
the Local Access Forum. Issues relating to horse riders not being able to safely use the Trail 
where it ran alongside a working railway were raised along with concerns about access should 
the line be reinstated. It was noted that, although discussions with Derbyshire County Council 
were ongoing, the route from Matlock to Rowsley could not be used by horse riders because 
it ran alongside a heritage railway. Although there had been suggestions that the Monsal Trail 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2����



  

 

2 

should be designated as a bridleway, it was confirmed that the view of the National Park 
Authority was that, as the former track bed was owned by the Authority, designation was not 
required at this moment in time.  
 
Mike Rhodes highlighted the operational benefits of not designating the route and confirmed 
that, as a bridleway had to run form one highway to another, partial designation for the lengths 
with no structures was not an option. 
 
Several Forum Members expressed a strong preference for designation now and Charlotte 
Gilbert agreed to raise the issue through the Trails Management Steering Group. 
 
AGREED: To note the update, the National Park Authority’s current position on 
designation and to keep this issue under review.   
 
Chapel Gate – Paul Richardson reported on progress highlighting that the test patch had 
failed during recent poor weather. It was suggested that there appeared to be no feasible 
option to repair the route. 
 
AGREED: Richard Taylor to arrange to meet with Green Lanes Sub-Group to discuss 
the options for a surface suitable for all users. DCC to identify suitable dates. 
 
Annual LAF Report – It was noted that the 2018/19 Annual Report was now available on the 
National Park Authority website. Paper copies were provided at the meeting and it was 
confirmed that Roly Smith was drafting a press release to be issued via Peak District NPA and 
County Council Communications departments. 
 
Wetton – Sue Smith updated the Forum on progress at Wetton since the last Forum meeting. 
Staffordshire County Council was considering the options for works to the route.. The Forum 
expressed concerns about the timescales and queried whether a TRO should be progressed 
before the repairs were done. The Forum expressed the view that they were keen for the 
works by Staffordshire CC to proceed as soon as possible. 
 
Spirit of Kinder Event – Roly Smith reported that the event planned at Winnats Pass had 
been stopped by a severe storm but 400 people still gathered at the Peveril Centre in 
Castleton to listen to speakers. He also confirmed that Jarvis Cocker had attended the event. 
Thanks were expressed to Jon and Katie from the National Trust for setting up the event and 
Roly for his co-ordination of communications. It was noted that in 2020 this annual event would 
be held in Manchester on 25 April.  

6.  
4. 4 ACCESS REPORT  

7.  
 Sue Smith introduced her report tabled at the meeting. 

 
PDNPA Land Disposals – It was confirmed that an update on the process had been received 
at the Access Sub-Group and reports were tabled highlighting the access situation on land 
proposed for  disposal. It was noted that it was the Authority’s intention that existing access 
would be safeguarded through the designations in place or covenants. It was noted that the 
Sub-Group would be meeting to discuss further.  
 
The Chair confirmed that he had received a response to his letter to Adrian Barraclough 
conveying the concerns of the Forum. A copy of the response was tabled at the meeting. At 
the meeting it was suggested that all the land should be designated as open access land 
before disposal and more could have been done to engage local communities in the process. 
Adrian Barraclough thanked the Forum for looking at this and offering their expertise. He 
provided some background information on the reasons for acquiring the land and the process 
and timescales for progressing the disposals. Adrian invited the Forum to respond on what 

Page 4



  

 

3 

went well, what could be improved. Adrian also confirmed that disposal of the Monsal Trail 
was not something the Authority was currently considering. 
 
AGREED: To note the update and ask the National Park Authority to note that the 
Forum’s strong preference was that permissive access be designated as open access 
and rights of way before disposal. Action - John Thompson 
 
Access Wish List – Sue Smith confirmed that this was now a standing item at Access Sub-
Group meetings and demonstrated how it was linked to decisions on the allocation of funding 
from the Access Fund. Forum members were invited to provide feedback before the meeting 
of the Sub-Group on 13th June. It was noted that the Derbyshire Dales Ramblers had recently 
given a donation to the fund and thanks were given by Sue Smith and a certificate presented 
to Sue Weatherley. 
 
Archives – The Forum noted and welcomed information provided in Appendix 2 of the report 
describing the information available regarding the early days of the National Park movement 
and the development of the National Park family. 
 
Moorland Tracks – The Forum noted an update on enforcement action at Bradfield Moors 
and Midhope Moor.  
 
AGREED: To note and welcome the report. 
 
Review of Directions to Restrict Access – Sue Smith introduced her report tabled at the 
meeting. The report provided details on the process for reviewing long-term directions for the 
exclusion of the public to open access land, updated the Forum on the sites to be statutorily 
reviewed and seeking a consultation response from the Forum on the review at Deer Hill 
Meltham. 
 
Agreed: To note the report and agree the Access Sub-group comments in Appendix 3 
of the report as the Forum’s response to the consultation. Action - John Thompson 

 

5. 5 DERBYSHIRE DERWENT CATCHMENT PARTNERSHIP (PRESENTATION)  

8.  
 The Forum received a presentation from Scott McKenzie, Living Rivers Officer from the 

Derbyshire Wildlife Trust on the Derbyshire Derwent Catchment Partnership. The partnership 
had been established to tackle issues relating to pollution, biodiversity. climate change 
mitigation and community engagement and access. Scott was thanked for his presentation. 
 
Ben Seal from British Canoeing also spoke on issues relating to water access and highlighted 
national campaigns which aimed to change legislation and improve access to water. Ben 
answered questions and points raised by LAF members and undertook to send additional 
information to Mike Rhodes for circulation. Ben was thanked for his presentation. 
 
The Forum discussed the issues raised and identified options for raising awareness. It was 
suggested that it would be useful to have representation on the Forum from canoeists or open 
water swimmers. Agreed the Chair would write to Sarah Fowler and other interests seeking 
their views and involvement in a future meeting.  
 
AGREED: To note and welcome the report and a copy of the Charter document be 
circulated to Forum Members. 
 

 

6. 6 NATIONAL TRUST ACTIVE OUTDOOR PROVIDER SCHEME (AOPS) 
(PRESENTATION)  

9.  

Page 5



  

 

4 

 Katherine Clarke from the National Trust attended to update the Forum on the National Trust 
Active Outdoor Provider Scheme. It was noted that this replaced previous arrangements which 
had not been well received. 
 
The new framework provided a way of looking at events to establish their impact on the 
relevant property and identify how they can go ahead sensitively. As part of this process 
events are allocated to one of four categories based on the proposed activity and the size of 
the event. Bob Berzins referred to the importance of this work arising from the Events 
Workshop in line with the National Park Management Plan (NPMP) Delivery Plan. 
 
Katherine was thanked for her presentation. The Forum welcomed the proposals and asked 
about how the process could be used to generate contributions or donations to contribute to 
conservation and access. 
 

 

7. 7 RIGHTS OF WAY IMPROVEMENT PLAN FOR DERBYSHIRE - UPDATE 
REPORT (INCLUDING SUB GROUP MEETINGS)  

10.  
 Gill Millward circulated her report and invited comments and questions on the content. In 

discussing the report the following issues were highlighted: 
 

 Greenway/ cycle route development – 9.25km of new routes in 2018/19 exceeding the 
target of 8km. 

 Improving promotion, understanding and use of the network – New events guide has 
been published with on-line version available. 

 Review of Derbyshire’s Rights of Way Improvement Plan – it was noted that the joint 
RoWIP Sub Group had met and notes would be written up and circulated. 

 It was confirmed that although Officers were confident that LTP funding would be spent 
there were concerns that the development of new routes may be limited by the officer 
support time available. 

 Minninglow Lane – Noted that a site visit was due to take place to draw up the 
specification which met the sound, sensible and sensitive principles. 

 
AGREED: 
 
1.  To note and welcome the progress report for delivering Derbyshire’s Rights of 

Way Improvement Plan. 
 
2.  To note the minutes of the meeting of the Unrecorded Ways Sub-Group. 
 
3. To congratulate the Team on successfully drawing down funding. 

11.  
8. 8 GREEN LANES WARDEN INITIATIVE  

12.  
 Sergeant James Shirley from the rural crime team at Derbyshire Police attended the meeting 

to highlight the work of the team and ways in which members of the public can report issues 
and help tackle rural crime. He confirmed that he would be looking in more detail at the Green 
Lanes Warden case studies to see if it would be suitable for use in Derbyshire. 
 
He confirmed that following investment by the Police Commissioner there were now 15 
Officers working on rural crime based in Matlock. It was recognised that even with more 
resources it was difficult to investigate crimes without the support of members of the public. 
He commended the work of some user groups to self-police their activities and report criminal 
matters to the police using social media. He provided examples of how posts on Facebook 
and Twitter had been invaluable in tackling wildlife crime and illegal raves.  
 

Page 6



  

 

5 

Forum members were encouraged to raise the profile of the Rural Crime Team with their 
contacts and encourage them to use social media to report criminal activities when they see 
them.  Sergeant Shirley was thanked for his presentation. 
 
AGREED: To note the update and welcome the initiatives to tackle rural crime. 

13.  
9. 9 NATIONAL PARK MANAGEMENT PLAN DELIVERY UPDATES  

14.  
 The minutes of the meeting of the National Park Management Plan Advisory Group from 10th 

April were noted. It was confirmed that Bob Berzins would be representing the Forum at the 
July meeting. 
 
It was noted that the Advisory Group had taken the lead in organising a Climate Change 
Summit at the Pavilion Gardens in Buxton on 15 October 2019 which Geoff Nickolds will attend 
for the Access Forum. 
 
It was also confirmed that a Countryside Code Refresher Workshop was being held on 11 
July at the Agricultural Business Centre in Bakewell and attendance was confirmed for that. 

15.  
10. 10 MEMBERS' FEEDBACK INCLUDING:  

16.  
 Regional LAF Chairs Meeting – It was confirmed that Bob Berzins had attended a meeting 

on 26 March 2019. An update report from Natural England had been circulated to members. 
 
Pennine Bridleway National Trail - It was noted that, as there was still a missing link 
outstanding around Glossop, Natural England was being lobbied to find the funding to 
progress this. 
 
A619 Thirteen Bends Improvements Bakewell to Baslow – It was noted that consultation 
had commenced on safety improvements to the road. There were concerns about limited 
awareness of the consultation and the short timescales for responding. Forum members were 
generally supportive of the scheme and raised some access issues in relation to rights of way 
crossing the road, including the need for warning signs and fencing. Forum members were 
also encouraged to seek out the consultation and respond individually.  
 
AGREED: that Mike Rhodes would work with Charlotte, who had kindly attended an exhibition, 
to respond to Derbyshire CC on behalf of the LAF. 

17.  
11. 11 ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

18.  
 Parking at Longshaw Estate - It was noted that if members had not displayed parking tickets 

in vehicles they may find notes on their windscreen. Although this was nothing to be concerned 
about, in future permits would need to be displayed or the welcome desk advised on arrival. 
Members to be reminded please when attending future LAF meetings.  

19.  
12. 12 DATE AND VENUE OF NEXT MEETINGS  

20.  

 It was noted that the next meetings would be held on 19 September 2019 and 5 December 
2019 at Aldern House Bakewell. The Chair thanked Jon Stewart and colleagues for hosting 
this meeting at Longshaw. 

21.  
 Meeting ended - 13:00 

e:\iis applications\moderngov\data\agendadocs\8\8\2\a00002288\$$minutes.doc 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1

A GUIDE TO SETTING UP INLAND BATHING AREAS IN THE UK

Robert Aspey & Chris Dalton 

INLAND BATHING AREAS

PHOTO: DOMINICK TYLER

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 5����



2

“

PHOTO: DAVID THOMPSON

There are many ideal inland bathing areas but landowners often 

have a default no-swimming policy. We hope, through this 

guide, to help turn that around.

”
This guide was written by Robert Aspey and Chris Dalton, who lead the 
Outdoor Swimming Society (OSS) Inland Access Group, and with the 
support of Swim England. The OSS Inland Access Group was set up 
in 2013. The broad aims of the group are to share knowledge and help 
people to maintain and increase the amount of inland water accessible 
for outdoor recreational swimming. The group has a dedicated Facebook 
page for discussions, advice, and help with access to inland water for 
swimming. Helpful guides and information on this subject are available 
to download in the Files section. To join the group, see Contacts at the 
end of this guide. 

www.outdoorswimmingsociety.com

Robert Aspey & Chris Dalton

Outdoor Swimming Society (OSS) Inland Access Group

ABOUT THE AUTHORS OF THIS GUIDE

P
age 10



3

“

“

PHOTO: VIVIENNE RICKMAN-POOLE

What a hugely inspiring project this is: practical, democratic & joyful at once. The OSS has for 
a decade now sought to open both our minds and our waterways to the possibility of swimming 

outdoors, in rivers, lakes and seas. 
 

And how it has succeeded! Tens of thousands of people have taken to the open water who would 
never have thought to do so before.   Now here is a guide that shows us how new “inland beaches” 

can be brought into being: sites where anyone can swim just for the sake of swimming.  

We might think of such places as a kind of new commons: accessible to all, where simple and 
unworried swims can be taken, new friendships can be made, and the sheer pleasure of swimming 

under the sky can be experienced by anyone who wishes to feel it. 

This is the real deal: a politics of place that mixes the gnarliness of legislation with a belief in the 
value of self-reliance and the possibility of joy in nature.

 We all need places we can be free and go on adventures, but public land has restricted 
access to swimmers far more than it has legislated against climbers and walkers. This guide 
will help change that; the Outdoor Swimming Society is making sure we all have places to 
take ourselves, children and grandchildren for a free outdoor swim. If you value swimmers 

freedom, join them.

”

”

Rob Macfarlane, Outdoor Swimming Society Patron

Ranulph Fiennes

P
age 11



4

About This Guide        5
The Benefits Of Inland bathing areas      6
How To Allow Swimming       7
The Unsupervised Access Model 
 Case Study: Church Stretton Reservoir     8
 Case Study: Sparth Reservoir      9
 Case Study: Swan Pool       10
 Case Study: The Lake District National Park     10
Managed Bathing Facilities       11
Managed Inland Beach – Non-Lifeguarded     12
 Case Study: Frensham Great Pond      12
Managed Inland Beach – Lifeguarded      13
 Case Study: Rutland Water Bathing Beach     14
Making A Successful Inland Beach      16
 Choosing The Ideal Site       16
 Monitoring Water Quality       16
 Employing Lifeguards       17
 Safety        17
 Putting Up Signage       17
Inland Bathing Areas And The Law – Fulfilling Your Legal Duties As A 
 Landowner / Occupier       18
 What Risks Would Be Treated As Being Obvious To A Reasonable Adult?  19
 Unusual Risks That Would Not Be Obvious To A Reasonable Adult   21
 Examples Of Special Risks That Would Not Be Obvious To A Reasonable Adult 22
 Is A Clear Warning Always Enough To Fulfil The Occupier’s Legal Duty?  23
 Can Children Be Treated As Voluntarily Accepting The Risks?   23
 Do Lifeguards Need To Be Employed To Protect Against The Risks?  24
 Can I Validly Exclude My Legal Liability To Swimmers, Either By Agreement Or 
 By Notice?        24
 Insurance        25
 Case Illustrations       26
Definitions        27
 Abbreviations        27
Disclaimer        28
References, Resources And Further Reading     28
Contacts         29

C O N T E N T S  

PHOTO: DOMINICK TYLER

P
age 12



5

Over the last decade, the huge increase in 
popularity in swimming outdoors has led to 
a resurgence in demand for inland bathing 

areas. The term ‘inland beach’ generally refers to a fairly 
level grassed area and/or sand along the edge of a lake, 
reservoir, or riverside, with gentle sloping entry into the 
water for easy access, where families can swim, paddle, 
and have fun, without having to drive to the coast. 

Inland bathing areas are plentiful and have remained 
popular in many countries in Europe and North America. 
In particular, France, Germany and Switzerland have 
hundreds of inland bathing areas. In England and 
Wales there were once many informal inland swimming 
locations where hundreds of families would swim and 
bathe on warm sunny days, but since the 1950s they 
have, with a small handful of exceptions, all been shut 
down.

Happily this is now on the turn, with new beaches at 
Rutland Water and Swan Pool having been established 
in recent years. This guide is intended to help more 
people create similar facilities in their area. The rise 
in swimming popularity, coupled with the desire of 
many public bodies and landowners to give outdoor 
swimmers the same access to their land as walkers, 
climbers and cyclists, means inland bathing areas are 
seeing a resurgence. 

For anyone interested in establishing a safe and 
enjoyable beach in their area, this guide outlines the 
different models that beaches are taking, and gives 

clear practical and legal guidance on how to set them 
up, with case studies. 

This guidance is for all owners and occupiers of 
land on which there is a pond, lake, river or reservoir, 
including councils, water park operators, and local 
water supply authorities. The legislation and case law 
referred to is relevant in England and Wales.

Generally, access to the water would be free (where 
a charge for access is applied, additional measures are 
needed as explained in the section on Legal Duties). 
Charges for car parking (if arriving by car) and the sale 
of food and drink at an on-site café are normally the only 
costs visitors might incur.   

This document is not intended for people or 
organisations setting up commercial operations, such 
as triathlon training lakes (of which there are now many 
in the country) – the legal requirements of that are 
different. 

There are many ideal inland bathing areas but 
landowners often have a default no-swimming policy 
due to concern about legal responsibility for accidents.  
The loss of amenity puts English and Welsh families at a 
disadvantage compared to citizens in the rest of Europe 
and North America where safe river, lake and reservoir 
swimming opportunities remain abundant. It can also 
lead to swimmers taking risks in more dangerous 
waters, such as fast-flowing rivers, stagnant pools, and 
tidal waters with fast-flowing tides and rip currents. We 
hope, through this guide, to help turn that around. 

A B O U T  T H I S  G U I D E

PHOTO: DOMINICK TYLER

PHOTO: DAVID THOMPSON

P
age 13



6

 » During warm weather, local family-friendly inland bathing beaches 
provide ideal locations for individuals and families to spend a day getting 
healthy exercise swimming and relaxing by the water. 

 » As they are local they don’t involve long drives on overcrowded roads 
to the coast, especially welcome on hot summer days, or the cost of 
accommodation.

 » They are usually free apart from car parking charges.

 » Bathing has little or no environmental impact and it encourages people, 
especially children, to spend more time getting healthy exercise because 
they are having fun – which, in turn, helps to reduce childhood obesity. 

 » Bathing places draw people together, encourage a sense of community 
and provide opportunity for exercise, sport and relaxation in a fun and safe 
environment. 

 » The water in inland lakes and reservoirs retains its heat and can stay 
warm into late September. They are often safer and warmer than the sea, 
with no tides, waves or rip currents.

THE BENEFITS OF INL AND BATHING AREAS

P
age 14



7

There are four models of inland bathing areas that allow swimming, but 
all carry different financial, practical and legal responsibilities. These 
are:

 » Unsupervised access;

 » Managed bathing facility:

 » Non-lifeguarded;

 » Lifeguarded;

 » A club – a non-lifeguarded facility where swimmers sign a declaration 
that they are swimming at their own risk (outside the main thrust of this 
guide but mentioned here for completeness).

Each of these is outlined in this guide, with case studies. 

H O W  T O  A L L O W  S W I M M I N G

PHOTO: VIVIENNE RICKMAN-POOLE

P
age 15



8

The National Trust (NT) have a reservoir on their Carding Mill Valley site in Shropshire 
where mainly children used to swim in the holidays. The NT initially put up signs 
prohibiting swimming, and NT wardens kept telling the children not to swim, but as 

soon as the wardens left the children would go back in the water. The NT realised they 
were not going to be able to stop the children swimming, and they did not want to stop 
them having fun. In a ground-breaking move in around 2010 they carried out a site risk 
assessment, and installed Wild Swimming Safety signs, throw lines, and buoys indicating 
where the depth exceeds 1.4m. This is now a very popular free wild swimming reservoir 
that draws more people to this NT site, where they spend money on car parking and the 
café. This is an excellent model of good practice on how to manage wild swimming.

Find it at: wildswim.com/church-stretton-reservoir

C A S E  S T U D Y:  C H U R C H  S T R E T T O N  R E S E R V O I R

On the unsupervised access model, landowners are not technically providing a 
bathing facility; instead they are giving safety advice (via signage on site about 
wild swimming safety) to people who choose to swim. The Environment Agency 

and many of the national parks allow people to swim at their own risk, signposting any 
unusual or hidden risks for swimming at a lake, reservoir or river. Possible dangers include 
locks, sluices, weirs, hidden obstructions, or sudden change of water depth near the shore. 

The section Inland bathing areas and the Law explains more on site signage, based on a 
site risk assessment. 

T H E  U N S U P E R V I S E D  A C C E S S  M O D E L

An example of good signage at an unsupervised site. 

P
age 16



9

Sparth Reservoir is a feeder to the Huddersfield Narrow Canal, located in 
Marsden, Huddersfield. It is owned and operated by the Canal and River 
Trust (formerly British Waterways). In March 2017, five-and-a-half years 

after local swimmers began negotiation, firstly with British Waterways and then 
the Canal and River Trust, new signs giving advice on safe swimming went up at 
Sparth Reservoir.

Although swimmers had used the reservoir for decades, in 2011 British 
Waterways put up a “no swimming” sign at the Reservoir. Bylaws that 
prohibit swimming in the canal network were cited on the signs, which British 
Waterways said were “for the benefit and safety of members”.

Regular Sparth swimmers conducted a long campaign helped by the OSS 
Inland Access Group, which included ‘splash mobs’ and press interviews, 
lobbying, a community risk assessment, a successful grant application to the 
local council, discussions with the operators in meetings and emails.

The outcome was agreement that swimming is allowed in the reservoir. 
New custom-made signs were designed in collaboration between the local 
community and the Canal and River Trust. The signage describes the history 
of swimming at Sparth, explains the risks, and gives advice on how swimmers 
can keep themselves safe. A community-run Facebook group enables 
swimmers to find others to swim with, organise litter-picks and events, and 
raise safety concerns.

C A S E  S T U D Y:  S P A R T H  R E S E R V O I R

T H E  U N S U P E R V I S E D  A C C E S S  M O D E L

Find it at: wildswim.com/sparth

P
age 17



10

Swan Pool in West Bromwich, Birmingham, is a 
large body of water in Sandwell Valley Park, an 
oasis of green in the middle of the West Midlands 

urban conurbation. 
The pool had been used for wild swimming for many 

years, but Sandwell Council installed signs prohibiting 
swimming for what they deemed to be safety reasons. 
In 2014 a local group of people who had been regularly 
swimming there, for both recreation and competition 
training, campaigned with the help of a local councillor 
and the OSS Inland Access Group to remove the 
swimming ban. They were successful; in 2015 the 
council removed the ban and installed wild swimming 
safety signage. It is now a very popular wild swimming 
venue. One of the key points that finally swung the 
argument in the swimmers’ favour was the support 
of a locally elected councillor. The councillors are the 
decision makers and the council staff have to carry out 
their wishes.

Wild swimming in most of the tarns, lakes and 
rivers of the Lake District has been practised 
for generations with no specific restrictions. 

Due to the increasing popularity of wild swimming 
since 2000, the park authorities met with wild swimming 
groups in 2013 to agree on the best way of encouraging 
safety amongst all the users of the lakes (canoeing, 
sailing, boating, and swimming). This resulted in the 
adoption of official wild swimming guidance – a model of 
good practice that could be used by other landowners. 

As well as online guidance, the park authorities 
issue leaflets and have installed signage encouraging 
safe wild swimming in the park. They now positively 
encourage wild swimming, stating ‘Swimming in tarns, 
lakes and rivers is great fun, however it’s important to 
stay safe’.

C A S E  S T U D Y:  S W A N  P O O L C A S E  S T U D Y:  T H E  L A K E
D I S T R I C T  N AT I O N A L  P A R K

PHOTO: CALUM MCLEAN

T H E  U N S U P E R V I S E D  A C C E S S  M O D E L

Find it at: wildswim.com/swan-pool-sandwell-valley-country-park

P
age 18



11

M A N A G E D  B AT H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S

At managed bathing facilities landowners manage the site in some way, 
for example by providing a buoyed-off area of a lake, reservoir, or river for 
bathing, with or without lifeguards. 

LIFEGUARDED OR NON-LIFEGUARDED 
HSE GUIDANCE?

The type of bathing facility offered should be based on HSE guidance, 
HSG179 Managing health and safety in swimming pools.This publication 
provides guidance for those who have any involvement with the operation 
and management of health and safety in swimming pools. The guidance 
is aimed primarily at swimming pools but also covers segregated areas of 
rivers, lakes, the sea, and other non-standard facilities where swimming 
is encouraged (see paragraph 6). The guidance’s relevance depends on 
the circumstances at each non-standard swimming facility. While much of 
the guidance may not be relevant, the following sections should be read 
carefully: 

 » General management of health and safety

 » The practicalities of managing health and safety 

Please note, this guidance does not apply to areas where swimming is not 
encouraged and which are not maintained as swimming facilities. If people 
choose to swim in places like ponds or lakes then it is normally reasonable 
to expect them to take responsibility for their own safety. 

Paragraphs 186 to 193 help determine whether a facility should be 
lifeguarded or non-lifeguarded. 

A risk assessment is central to the effective management of health and 
safety, and the concept features in several sections of this HSE guidance. 
An assessment of risk is nothing more than a careful examination of factors 
that could cause harm to people, to establish whether enough precautions 
have been taken to prevent harm, or whether more precautions need to be 
taken. As part of the risk assessment, pool operators will need to consider 
all the hazards and risks associated with the facility. The Royal Life Saving 
Society (RLSS) is an organisation that can undertake professional risk 
assessments for bathing areas.

Note, Swim England only have operation and management procedures 
that apply to open-water swimming competitions, not recreational bathing 
beaches, so the relevant guidance is the above HSG179. 

HSG179 is issued by the Health and Safety Commission. Following the
guidance is not compulsory and you are free to take other action, but if 
you do follow the guidance you will normally be doing enough to comply 
with the law.

Health and safety inspectors seek to secure compliance with the law and 
may refer to this guidance as illustrating good practice.

R I S K  A S S E S S M E N T S

P
age 19



12

A non-lifeguarded facility may be chosen where a risk assessment has 
indicated this would be suitable following implementation of measures 
highlighted in the risk assessment. These types of facilities often, but not 
exclusively, have a maximum water depth of 1.5m (4 foot 11 inches) as this 
is seen as less of a risk than deeper water. 

Frensham Great Pond is a natural lake situated between Farnham and 
Hindhead, Surrey. The area is made up of a large area of heathland, together 
with some coniferous and mixed woodland. It is owned by Waverley Borough 
Council, which allows managed non-lifeguarded swimming through the 
use of signage giving safety advice, the latest water-quality readings as a 
registered bathing area, and restricting the maximum depth to 1.4m. Due 
to its limited area and popularity with families it is really only suitable for 
recreational swimmers.

MANAGED INLAND BATHING:
NON-LIFEGUARDED 

CASE STUDY: FRENSHAM GREAT POND

PHOTO: DOMINICK TYLER

PHOTO: VIVIENNE RICKMAN-POOLE

M A N A G E D  B AT H I N G  FA C I L I T I E S

Find it at: https://wildswim.com/frensham-pond

P
age 20



13

A lifeguarded facility may be chosen where a risk assessment has indicated 
this would be suitable following implementation of measures highlighted in 
the risk assessment. These types of facilities often have a maximum water 
depth exceeding 1.5m due to the presence of lifeguards to manage the 
increased risk.

Depending on the findings of a risk assessment and how the lifeguards 
manage the bathing area, possible options can include:
 » Have one bathing area demarked by a line of buoys, with the depth slowly 

increasing from nothing out to a maximum depth of, say, 6ft (1.83m).

 » Demarcate the paddling area from the swimming area (especially if the 
maximum depth exceeds 1.5m) with a line of buoys, to make it easier to 
keep young kids and non-swimmers in the shallower paddling area.

 » Have two separate bathing areas along the shoreline: a paddling area 
and a deeper swimming area.

It should be noted, however, that it is vital lifeguards are properly trained 
and equipped and appropriate action plans in place. It may increase liability 
over unsupervised access if only the illusion of safety is provided.

MANAGED INLAND BATHING:
LIFEGUARDED 

PHOTO: DOMINICK TYLER

P
age 21



14

With no official inland bathing waters in the English 
Midlands, the OSS identified an obvious demand 
for such a facility. In 2009, Robert Aspey, the newly 
appointed OSS Inland Access Officer, approached 
several public and private landowners with the idea 
of creating an inland bathing beach similar to those 
he had discovered while travelling in Central Europe. 
These landowners proved to be very risk averse and 
nervous, so progress was slow. 

However, in the autumn of 2010 he approached the 
visitor operations manager at Anglian Water Services 
with this idea, and was well received. Then, with the 
backing of Anglian Water Services, Swim England, 
and Leicester-Shire & Rutland Sport, he put together 
a joint proposal document for a bathing beach along 
the north-east shore of Rutland Water. Rutland Water 
is situated in a rural part of the East Midlands. As one 
of the driest and warmest parts of England in summer, 
and with several large cities within a 40-mile driving 
distance, it is an ideal location. 

In 2011, to prove there was a real demand for such 
a facility, Anglian Water Services consulted the 
local population and found overwhelming support 
for a bathing beach. This then became part of the 
development strategy for Rutland Water.

Several organisations including the RLSS worked 
together producing risk assessments, operating 
procedures, getting approvals from the Anglian Water 
Services board, and organising lifeguarding.
From an environmental perspective approval was 
required from the head of water quality and the head 
of water treatment at Anglian Water Services, and also 
from Natural England (as Rutland Water is an SSSI site). 
All these approvals were then granted. Anglian Water 
Services undertook a water-quality risk assessment 
which did not throw up any problems regarding people 
swimming in the water.
 
The area designated for the beach was cleared of 
overgrowth, and sand was delivered to form a beach 
area beside the water.

The bathing area was clearly defined with floatation 
buoys linked by a rope and secured firmly to the bank 
side at either end. It covers an area 140m long by 20m 
wide measured from the shoreline. The line of buoys 
can be moved to suit varying water levels. There is a 
gradual slope out from the beach to a maximum depth 
of about 6ft (1.83m). The lifeguards are beach trained 
and it was determined no demarcation was needed 
between the paddling and swimming areas. This has 
worked well in practice.

CASE STUDY: RUTL AND WATER BATHING BEACH

PHOTOS: RUTLAND BEACH

Find it at: https://wildswim.com/frensham-pond

P
age 22



15

This facility cost approximately £20,000 in 2014 for the infrastructure works 
(creating a sandy beach, signage, etc.) with car parking charges paying for 
the lifeguarding. There is existing car parking, toilets, café, and a visitor centre 
nearby.

Rutland Water is ideal for people living in the Midlands, as they face a drive 
of over 100 miles to get to a seaside beech, where it is often colder, tides and 
waves make it less safe than an inland beach, the roads may be blocked with 
traffic, and the accommodation is often fully booked up. Inland water bodies 
are nearly always warmer and safer than the sea.

The beach and swimming area opened to the public on 5th July 2014 to 
overwhelming praise and is now a hugely popular family-friendly bathing 
facility. The beach is open all year, but the paddling and swimming area is 
only open when it is lifeguarded during the summer. 

For help with setting up a managed bathing facility like Rutland Water Bathing 
Beach, the landowner (councils, water park operators, local water authorities, 
etc.) can contact Anglian Water Services. The RLSS or SLSGB can help with 
advice including details of beach lifeguard training, risk assessments, and 
operating procedures.

There are other examples of managed lifeguarded inland bathing areas 
in England, such as Hampstead Heath Ponds and Cotswold Water Park 
Bathing Beach, but these make a charge for entry.

PHOTO: DOMINICK TYLER

PHOTO: VIVIENNE RICKMAN-POOLE

P
age 23



16

M A K I N G  A  S U C C E S S F U L
I N L A N D  B E A C H

 » A lake or natural-looking reservoir is ideal as there should be no current. If 
using a river, pick one with a very slow-moving current, possibly upstream 
from a weir to give enough depth, or where a natural deep pool has formed 
in the river.

 » It should slope gently into the water with no sudden changes in depth, 
which allows kids to paddle near the shore, getting deeper further out for 
older children and adults to swim. 

 » Water of a minimum depth of approximately 1.2-1.5m is deep enough for 
swimming, 1.8m being ideal. This is important so people can have a good 
swim away from the kids’ paddling area, and provides interest for all. 

 » Sand can be laid along the shoreline for kids to play in, with a grassed 
area behind for people to sit, relax and picnic, with some trees to provide 
natural shading. 

 » A natural bay along the side of a lake can look ideal if present, but is not 
essential. 

 » Check the water for any obstructions, weeds, etc. Remove these or 
select another site.

C H O O S I N G  T H E  I D E A L  S I T E

If water looks clear and clean it is usually of good quality. However, it is 
wise, especially if you are providing a managed bathing facility, to take 
some initial water samples (in line with the bathing water directive) from 
the proposed bathing area just to make sure the water is suitable, and at 
regular intervals when the bathing area is open. The bathing beach could 
be registered as a designated inland bathing water with the Environment 
Agency by submitting an application to the Department for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs. If designated, the Environment Agency will develop 
a bathing water profile and put plans in place to monitor and protect the 
bathing water.

Blue-green algae can occur during hot weather, and appears as a bright 
green/blue scum on the surface of the water. This is not tested for; you 
should keep a visual check for it, and advise against swimming while it is 
present. Some guidance on how to control blue-green algae can be found 
at http://nora.nerc.ac.uk/19957/1/BarleyStrawtocontrolalgae.pdf.

Weil’s disease is not tested for. Although incidence of human infection in 
the UK is minimal, it is worth providing signage advising people not to go 
into the water with open cuts, and to wash or shower afterwards. It is most 
likely to be caught from entering stagnant water, with a much lower risk in 
clean lakes, reservoirs, and rivers where the current dilutes it.

M O N I T O R I N G  W AT E R  Q U A L I T Y 

P
age 24



17

M A K I N G  A  S U C C E S S F U L
I N L A N D  B E A C H

If, after following the guidance in HSG179, 
the lifeguarded option is chosen, the RLSS 
(http://www.rlss.org.uk/professional-quali-
fications/) or the SLSGB (http://www.slsgb.
org.uk/education/graduate-lifeguard/) can 
advise on the number of lifeguards and 
supervisors required and undertake a site 
audit. 

The two alternative qualifications for inland 
water lifeguards are: 

1. RLSS NBLQ (National Beach Lifeguard 
Qualification) with additional site-specific 
training for inland water;

2. SLSGB Inland Waters Lifeguard, or their 
Beach Lifeguard with the inland water mod-
ule in addition.

This is covered in the following sections of 
this guide:
Managed Bathing Facilities (which details the 
guidance in HSG179, and gives case studies 
with signage) 
Inland bathing areas and the Law

EMPLOYING LIFEGUARDS

PUTTING UP SIGNAGE

The accident data produced by the Royal Society 
for the Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA) shows that 
inland open-water swimming is one of the safest 
aquatic activities. The figures show that it is not 
quite as safe as indoor swimming but significantly 
safer than sailing, kayaking, canoeing, angling, jet 
skiing, and scuba diving. See Figure 3 at: http://
www.rospa.com/rospaweb/docs/advice-services/
leisure-safety/inland-waters-risk-assessment.pdf
Learn to swim – this is a skill all should learn as early 
as possible.

The OSS gives detailed safety advice aimed at 
swimmers at: 
https://www.outdoorswimmingsociety.com/
category/features/survive/

The River and Lake Swimming Association (RALSA) 
have produced an excellent wild swimming safety 
guide that can be download free at: 
http://www.wild-swimming.com/uploads/
WSGsigns.pdf

Children under the age of 14 must be supervised by 
parents or guardians at all times, even if lifeguards 
are present. Lifeguards are not child minders. 
In addition to trunks or a bathing costume, swim 
shoes are recommended to protect feet from sharp 
surfaces. Shorty or full wet suits give buoyancy 
and warmth. Wearing a brightly coloured swim hat 
makes you more visible. 
The Outdoor Swimming Society’s Swim 
Responsibility Statement clearly sets out the 
position on safety and applies to all unsupervised 
recreational swimmers as follows:
‘The Outdoor Swimming Society recognises that 
open water swimming is an activity with a danger 
of personal injury or death. Participants in these 
activities should be aware of and accept these risks 
and be responsible for their own actions.’
The situation regarding formally organised groups 
under supervision and commercial activity may be 
different. See publications by Swim England: The 
Management of Open Water Swimming Events and 
British Triathlon – Organised Open Water Swimming.

S A F E T Y

P
age 25



18

INLAND BATHING AREAS AND THE LAW 

A key consideration for those thinking of setting up an inland beach on their 
land will be the steps that they need to take to stay on the right side of the law. 

Like many other activities, people face risks when they go swimming. What 
does the occupier need to do to ensure that he or she is not legally liable in the 
unlikely event that an accident occurs?

F U L F I L L I N G  Y O U R  L E G A L  D U T I E S  A S  A 
L A N D O W N E R  /  O C C U P I E R

The law in this area is actually the same general law that applies when people visit your 
home. The key points are these:
1. As occupier of the land, you owe a legal duty of care to all visitors who come on to 
the land. 

2. The duty can be broken down into three parts: 
 (i) To take such care as in all the circumstances of the case is reasonable,
 (ii) to see that the visitor will be reasonably safe,
 (iii) in using the land for the purposes for which he or she is invited  
      or permitted by you to be there.

3. ‘Reasonably safe’ doesn’t mean completely or perfectly safe – it isn’t your duty to 
wrap them in cotton wool. Generally, people know that swimming comes with risks. 
Nonetheless, they need to be able to be safe from any special dangers that a person 
wouldn’t usually come across when swimming. 

4. No duty to a visitor arises in respect to risks that are willingly accepted by the visitor. 
When a person goes swimming, they are treated in law as willingly accepting all of the 
risks that would be obvious as arising from going swimming. 

5. As a result, there is no duty on the landowner or occupier to prevent visitors from 
being exposed to those risks, or to give warnings in relation to those risks.

6. If there are unusual or special risks that would not be obvious to a reasonable person, 
then it is the duty of the occupier to make the visitor aware of those unusual or special 
risks. This is ordinarily done with a notice. 
 
7. There is no ‘one size fits all’ solution, because no two bodies of water are the same. It 
would be sensible to check for any special risks before opening the land to visitors and 
to continue checking for risks once open.

The law is set out in the Occupiers’ Liability Acts of 1957 and 1984 and applies to land 
in England and Wales. Separate laws apply in Scotland and are outside the scope of 
this paper.

It should also be noted that, on business premises, employers owe separate duties to 
their employees and visitors. Where a charge is made for swimmers to use an inland 
beach, this may result in the land being treated as business premises.

P
age 26



19

INLAND BATHING AREAS AND THE LAW 

The courts have identified the following risks as being obvious to a reasonable 
adult:

1. The risks arising from swimming generally;
2. The risks arising from swimming in cold water or deep water;
3. The risks arising from diving into shallow water;
4. The risk of cramp from swimming after eating;
5. The risks arising from the presence of mud or sludge on the bottom of a pond.

In these circumstances, occupiers would not generally be expected to take 
any additional steps to ensure the reasonable safety of visitors. It should be 
obvious that, for example, swimming comes with a risk of drowning, and div-
ing into shallow water comes with the risk of injury. 

WHAT RISKS WOULD BE TREATED AS BEING 
OBVIOUS TO A REASONABLE ADULT?

PHOTO: DOMINICK TYLER

P
age 27



20

INLAND BATHING AREAS AND THE LAW 

An important case in 2001 illustrates these principles. A 
man had drowned while swimming in deep, cold, murky 
water in a pond at a National Trust property. His family 
brought legal proceedings against the National Trust, 
arguing that the National Trust ought either to have 
prevented the man from swimming, or to have warned 
him of the risks arising from swimming in the pond. This 
argument was roundly rejected by the Court of Appeal.

In deciding that the National Trust owed no legal duty 
to warn visitors of the risks of swimming in the pond, 
or to prevent them from doing so, the Court of Appeal 
stated:

It cannot be the duty of the owner of every stretch of 
coastline to have notices warning of the dangers of 
swimming in the sea. If it were so, the coast would have 
to be littered with notices in places other than those 
where there are known to be special dangers which are 
not obvious. The same would apply to all inland lakes 
and reservoirs. 

In my judgement there was no duty on the National Trust 
on the facts of this case to warn against swimming in 

this pond where the dangers of drowning were no other 
or greater than those which were quite obvious to any 
adult such as the unfortunate deceased. 

That, in my view, applies as much to the risk that a 
swimmer might get into difficulties from the temperature 
of the water as to the risk that he might get into 
difficulties from mud or sludge on the bottom of the 
pond.1

As the risks that the man assumed when he went 
swimming in the National Trust’s pond ought to have 
been obvious to him, the National Trust had no duty to 
warn him of those inherent risks or prevent him from 
being exposed to them.

This legal principle is known by the Latin expression 
volenti non fit injuria: if someone willingly and knowingly 
places themselves in a position where harm might 
result, they will not be able to bring a claim against 
another party if suffering injury as a result. 

(1) A copy of the full judgment is available here: http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWCA/Civ/2001/189.html 

TOP PHOTO: PETER HANCOCK

ABOVE: VIVIENNE RICKMAN-POOLE

P
age 28



21

INLAND BATHING AREAS AND THE LAW 

Where the occupier is aware of unusual risks from swimming at a particular 
location that would not be obvious to a reasonable person, then the occupier is 
under a duty to make visitors aware of those special risks. 

By making the visitor aware of those special risks, the occupier puts the visitor 
in the position of being able to decide for himself or herself whether or not 
voluntarily to accept those risks. In general, if the visitor, in full knowledge of the 
special risks, proceeds to swim then he or she is treated as willingly accepting 
those special risks. As a result, the occupier would owe no further legal duty to 
the visitor in relation to those special risks. 

U N U S U A L  R I S K S  T H AT  W O U L D  N O T  B E 
O B V I O U S  T O  A  R E A S O N A B L E  A D U LT

P
age 29



22

INLAND BATHING AREAS AND THE LAW 

It is impossible to give an exhaustive list of special risks that would not be 
obvious to a reasonable adult. However, some examples include:

1. Hidden objects near the surface of the water that might cause harm if an 
individual swam into them;
2. Known impurities in the water that may cause illness or other harm to a 
swimmer;
3. Strong currents or water flows that would not be apparent from the 
water’s edge;
4. Sharp objects in the water.

If an occupier is aware of some special risk, then in general the occupier 
will have discharged its duty of care by bringing those special risks to the 
attention of visitors. This will enable each visitor to make his or her own 
decision as to whether or not to assume those risks voluntarily. 

In addition, it is good practice for an occupier to take reasonable steps 
to discover whether there are any additional special risks which might 
endanger visitors. This is not to say that occupiers must, in the words of 
the court, ‘make the premises so safe that users could not injure themselves 
even if they acted with complete disregard for their own safety’(2).  It 
simply means that occupiers will often know the state of the land better 
than others and be best placed to check for risks. This could involve the 

occupier walking along the shore of the body of water or going for a swim. 
It could also involve getting feedback from any visitors who have identified 
risks themselves. 

This will also apply to any risks relating to activities incidental to swimming 
– including walking to and from the beach, getting changed and drying 
off. It should be obvious that walking on uneven ground carries a risk of 
tripping. However, if the ground is heavily potholed, or particularly boggy, 
that might constitute a special risk of which warning should be given. 

The normal method of making visitors aware of special risks is by erecting 
and maintaining signs that make visitors aware of those special risks before 
they are exposed to them. There will need to be enough signs reasonably 
near to the edge of the water that visitors will see one before entering the 
water. Equally, the text of the signs will need to be sufficiently legible and 
the wording sufficiently clear that visitors will be able to read the warning 
and understand the risks. 

For inland bathing areas in England and Wales it will ordinarily be sufficient 
for the warning signs to be written in English. Where possible, it is good 
practice to use signs that include pictures as these can ensure clear 
communication of risks.

E X A M P L E S  O F  S P E C I A L  R I S K S  T H AT  W O U L D 
N O T  B E  O B V I O U S  T O  A  R E A S O N A B L E  A D U LT

(2) O’Shea v Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames [1995] P.I.Q.R. P208 

P
age 30



23

INLAND BATHING AREAS AND THE LAW 

It will ordinarily be sufficient to fulfil the occupier’s legal responsibilities to give 
a clear warning of the special risks that arise from an inland beach that would 
not be obvious to a reasonable person. The reason is that making the visitor 
aware of the special risks will ordinarily be sufficient to enable the visitor to be 
reasonably safe.

Only in exceptional cases – for example, if an inland beach presented such a 
significant level of danger to visitors that even making the visitor aware of the 
risks would not enable them to be reasonably safe – would the occupier be 
required to take measures to prevent visitors from swimming. 

Examples might be if the water were known to be badly infected with a dangerous 
substance, or where currents are especially strong and a real danger even to 
very capable swimmers.

I S  A  C L E A R  WA R N I N G  A LWAY S  E N O U G H 
T O  F U L F I L  T H E  O C C U P I E R ’ S  L E G A L  D U T Y ?

Children below a certain age will not be capable of properly understanding the risks 
that they face by entering open water, and therefore are treated in law as not being 
capable themselves of voluntarily assuming those risks – even where those risks 
would be obvious to a reasonable adult.

Where children are with parents or guardians, the primary responsibility lies with 
them to ensure that children are properly supervised and that the risks associated 
with swimming are properly managed. The occupier’s duty in this case is to make 
the parents or guardians aware of any special risks so that they can supervise 
accordingly.

However, the situation would be different if children were regularly swimming 
without parents or guardians, and if the occupier knew this or could reasonably 
have found it out. As explained above, children cannot be expected to appreciate, 
and therefore assume, the risks that adults can. If this is the case, an occupier 
would have to take additional steps to protect the children against the general 
risks of swimming. These might include employing lifeguards or erecting fences. 
An example of how a bathing area mainly used by children could be managed is 
illustrated in the Case Study for Church Stretton Reservoir on page (8) of this guide.

In all cases where lifeguards are not present it would be prudent to make the 
following points clear on notices close to the water:
(a) Children below 14 years of age and older children who are not strong swimmers 
must be closely supervised at all times by a responsible parent or guardian; and
(b) Lifeguards are not present at the inland beach.

In 2016 an incident occurred in which a five year old boy, who was not able to 
swim, drowned after being left unsupervised by his mother and step-father for 
over two hours at Bosworth Water Park.  Signs at the site made it clear that the 
bathing area was not life guarded and that all children must be supervised by a 
responsible adult at all times.  The operator of the water park, which remains open, 
had therefore fulfilled its legal duties and no action was taken against it. In contrast 
the boy’s step-father was prosecuted and imprisoned for his failure to supervise 
the boy appropriately.

C A N  C H I L D R E N  B E  T R E AT E D  A S 
V O L U N TA R I LY  A C C E P T I N G  T H E  R I S K S ?

P
age 31



24

INLAND BATHING AREAS AND THE LAW 

A s the occupier has no legal duty to protect swimmers against risks that 
would be obvious to a reasonable adult, it follows that there is no legal 
duty to hire lifeguards at an inland beach.

It is, however, important not to create the false impression that lifeguards are 
working at the inland beach if they are not. If people mistakenly think that 
lifeguards are present then this may give them false comfort when deciding to 
go swimming. For this reason, it would be prudent to make clear to swimmers, 
by notice, that the inland beach does not have lifeguards. 

Please note that if you do choose to employ lifeguards at the inland beach then 
this will trigger some additional legal responsibilities; for example, the need to 
ensure that they are appropriately equipped and qualified, and that there are 
sufficient lifeguards for the area of water covered.

D O  L I F E G U A R D S  N E E D  T O  B E  E M P L O Y E D 
T O  P R O T E C T  A G A I N S T  T H E  R I S K S ?

In general, occupiers cannot restrict or exclude liability for death or 
personal injury sustained by visitors. 

However, if the visitors have access to the land for recreational or 
educational purposes, rather than business purposes, an occupier can 
restrict or exclude its liability.

As a result, where no charge is made for swimmers to use the inland beach 
for recreational purposes, it will ordinarily be possible for the occupier 
to exclude legal liability to swimmers by including on its signs a clear 
statement to that effect. For these to be effective, the notice must be 
sufficiently prominent that swimmers will see the notice before swimming. 
An example of the wording to be used might be: 

The landowner and occupier exclude any legal liability (including for 
personal injury or death) to swimmers and other visitors to this land for 
recreational or educational purposes.

This should provide added protection against the risk of a claim being 
made against the occupier in the event of an accident at the inland beach.
It would be prudent to include a notice of this nature at the entrance(s) 
to the inland beach and close to the water, such that it would be clearly 
visible to any swimmer prior to entering the water.

If a charge is made for swimmers to use the inland beach, or where access 
is granted to swimmers as part of some wider business purpose, then it 
is unlikely that the occupier will be able to validly exclude legal liability 
to visitors. However, this would not affect the limits on the duties owed 
to swimmers voluntarily assuming obvious risks involved in swimming, as 
explained earlier in this section.

CAN I  VALIDLY EXCLUDE MY LEGAL LIABILIT Y 
TO SWIMMERS, EITHER BY AGREEMENT OR 
BY NOTICE?

P
age 32



25

INLAND BATHING AREAS AND THE LAW 

Unless access to the land is granted for business purposes, an occupier is 
not legally required to obtain insurance. However, it might offer some comfort 
to obtain public liability insurance to protect against any claims that may 
arise. In practical terms, an insurer could well insist on you taking certain 
steps, including erecting signs. The level of premium paid may depend on 
whether these steps are taken. 

There may also be an obligation under any property insurance policy you 
hold to inform the insurer that the land is being used for public swimming. 

I N S U R A N C E

PHOTOS: DOMINICK TYLERP
age 33



26

CASE ILLUSTRATIONS

In Ratcliff v McConnell (1998) (http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWCA/Civ/1997/2679.html) two 
students at a college climbed over the gate of the swimming pool for a late-night swim whilst 
the pool was closed. One of the students dived into the pool and sustained serious injuries, 
hitting his head on the bottom. 
The Court stated that: 
 The relevant danger here was what [sic] if someone dived into the pool they might 
hit their head on the bottom if there was insufficient water to accommodate the dive. That 
is a danger which is common to all swimming pools. There is no uniformity in shape, size or 
configuration of swimming pools. It seems to me that it is a danger which is obvious to any adult 
and indeed to most children who were old enough to have learnt to dive.
The Court concluded:
 In my judgment it is quite plain that the plaintiff was aware of the risk and willingly 
accepted it. Accordingly, I would hold that the defendants were under no duty towards him.

The landmark case Tomlinson v Congleton Borough Council (2003) (http://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/
UKHL/2003/47.html) covers the duty under the 1957 Act. In this case a young man, a visitor to 
Brereton Heath Country Park, was hanging out on a sandy beach at the lake in the park when he 
decided to cool off. He ran into the water and dived. Unfortunately he hit his head on the sandy 
bottom of the lake and broke his neck. He considered that his injuries were caused by the state of the 
premises and therefore a duty of care was owed by the occupiers.

The case was initially brought under the 1984 Act because, as the park pursued a policy of forbidding 
swimming, Mr Tomlinson became a trespasser – although initially a visitor – when he entered the water 
to swim. However, the House of Lords considered duties to visitors and trespassers in their judgment.

The House of Lords judged that the dangers of the lake were completely obvious and that:
 
 It follows that in my opinion, there was no risk to Mr Tomlinson due to the state of the premises or 
anything done or omitted upon the premises. That means that there was no risk of a kind which gave 
rise to a duty under the 1957 or 1984 Acts.
 
However, the Court contemplated the matter further because Congleton Borough Council had taken it 
upon themselves to destroy the beach to make bathing more difficult and unpleasant in the mistaken 
belief that this was necessary to avoid liability.

 I think it will be extremely rare for an occupier of land to be under a duty to prevent people from 
taking risks which are inherent in the activities they freely choose to undertake upon the land. If people 
want to climb mountains, go hang gliding or swim or dive in ponds or lakes, that is their affair.
 …
 It is of course understandable that organisations like the Royal Society for the Prevention of 
Accidents should favour policies which require people to be prevented from taking risks. Their function 
is to prevent accidents and that is one way of doing so. But they do not have to consider the cost, not 
only in money but also in deprivation of liberty, which such restrictions entail. The courts will naturally 
respect the technical expertise of such organisations in drawing attention to what can be done to 
prevent accidents. But the balance between risk on the one hand and individual autonomy on the 
other is not a matter of expert opinion. It is a judgment which the courts must make and which in 
England reflects the individualist values of the common law.
 …
 My Lords, for these reasons I consider that even if swimming had not been prohibited and the 
Council had owed a duty under section 2(2) of the 1957, that duty would not have required them 
to take any steps to prevent Mr Tomlinson from diving or warning him against dangers which were 
perfectly obvious.

The Corporation of London had decided not to allow adults to swim in the Mixed Pond on 
Hampstead Heath outside of the normal hours of operation (and without lifeguard supervision), 
as it had been advised by its legal team that the Corporation may be liable to prosecution 
under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 (as the land would be treated as ‘business 
premises’). This decision was judicially reviewed by the swimming club.

In Hampstead Heath Winter Swimming Club v The Corporation of London (2005) (http://www.
bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2005/713.html) the facts of the case were considered along 
with the judgments of Tomlinson and others. In quashing the Corporation of London’s decision, 
the Court stated:

 The swimmers will be under no compulsion or pressure to incur the risks involved in 
self-regulated swimming. They will do so of their own free will. The criminal law respects the 
individual freedom upheld by the House of Lords in Tomlinson.

 The Corporation’s grant to the Club of permission to swim unsupervised in the Mixed 
Pond will not of itself render it liable to prosecution under section 3 of the 1974 Act.

P
age 34



27

DEFINITIONS

Below are definitions of several terms used throughout this leaflet, drawn from 
relevant legislation and common law.

Owner: a person who legally owns land.

Occupier: a person who controls land or building(s). On private land the occupier 
will normally be the owner or tenant. On common land (historical land which has 
remained largely untouched and which is subject to the rights of other people to 
graze animals etc.), there may be multiple occupiers.

Premises: includes land and any fixed or moveable structures on it.

Visitor: a person who visits a place by invitation or by right.

Trespasser: a person who enters onto land without permission, invitation or right.

Exercising the statutory right of access: persons making use of the statutory 
right of access under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CROW) or 
under the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 (MCAA).

Open access land: land mapped as such under the Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000 (CROW). This includes areas of mountain, moor, heath, down and 
registered common land, and land dedicated under section 16 of CROW.

Coastal margin: land mapped as such under the Marine and Coastal Access 
Act 2009 (MCAA). This includes the establishment of a continuous footpath along 
England’s coastline and a permanent right of access to a margin around the coast.

Right of way: a highway that gives the public a right to pass and re-pass any land, 
including privately owned land (on foot, horse, cycle or other vehicle, depending 
on the way’s status). The use of a public right of way may be temporarily or 
permanently restricted by a Traffic Regulation Order issued by a Highway Authority 
or a National Park Authority.

Volenti non fit injuria: the principle that if someone willingly and knowingly places 
themselves in a position where harm might result, they will not be able to bring a 
claim against another party if suffering injury as a result.  

ABBREVIATIONS 
OSS – Outdoor Swimming Society 

RALSA – River and Lake Swimming Association 
HSE – Health and Safety Executive

ROSPA – Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents

RLSS – Royal Life Saving Society 

P
age 35



28

The information in this leaflet is given in good faith to the best of the author’s knowledge at the time of writing.  No 
legal liability is accepted nor duty of care assumed for the use of this information.

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information presented here, anyone who decides 
to swim in open water should remember that this is not entirely without risk. Neither the author nor the publishers 
will be held legally or financially responsible for any accident, injury, loss or inconvenience sustained as a result of 
the information or advice contained herein.

Whilst every effort has been taken to ensure the accuracy of the information in this leaflet at the date of publication, 
every situation is different and the information should not be used in place of professional legal advice and the OSS 
can accept no liability if it is used as such.

Open water swimming is an adventure sport and the courts generally apply the principle that voluntary acceptance 
of risks by participants prevents a successful claim against others who have not committed any culpable act.

If a swimmer is injured in an accident it is usually accepted that any claim against the owner or occupier should 
be defeated by the defence that the injured person willingly accepted the risks (the traditional Volenti non fit injuria 
principle).

Despite this, the OSS understand that every situation is different. This guidance gives general advice to the swimmer 
and owner or occupier, summarising the key pieces of legislation affecting liability.  Definitions used throughout this 
leaflet are summarised.  Swimmers are, as individuals, responsible for assessing and managing any inherent risks 
that are ordinarily part of the activity – including unknown depths, unknown underwater obstructions and water 
quality.  Indeed, this is part of the challenge of open water unsupervised recreational swimming.  There should be 
no expectation in a swimmer’s mind that an occupier or owner would be responsible or liable for such risks, or for 
the safety of swimmers on the land.

DISCL AIMER

HSG179 Managing health and safety in 
swimming pools

Managing Visitor Safety in the Countryside 
by the Visitor Safety in the Countryside 
Group 

ROSPA drowning figures 

Lake District National Park wild swimming 
guidance

Wild Swim Map
A worldwide crowd-sourced swim map
wildswim.com

REFERENCES, RESOURCES 
AND FURTHER READING

P
age 36



29

The Outdoor Swimming Society can offer general advice 
regarding access to inland water for outdoor swimming:
Web: www.outdoorswimmingsociety.com
Email: inlandaccess@outdoorswimmingsociety.com 

The River and Lake Swimming Association: 
Web: www.river-swimming.co.uk/

Swim England, which is the national governing body for 
swimming in England:
Web: http://www.swimming.org/swimengland/
Email: facilities@swimming.org

The Royal Life Saving Society
Web: https://rlss.org.uk/

The Surf Life Saving Society of Great Britain:
Web: www.slsgb.org.uk
Email: mail@slsgb.org.uk

CONTACTS

REVISIONS
1st Draft   19-03-2012
2nd Draft   16-01-2015
3rd Draft   29-04-2015
4th Draft   19-11-2015
Revised for publication 07-01-2017
2nd revised edition  13-07-2018

© Copyright 2017 OSS/ Robert Aspey/ Chris Dalton

P
age 37



30

“ “ “This guide comes at a crucial time, as outdoor 
swimming is on the rise and access to our 
landscape and its waters is ever more precarious. 
It succinctly makes the case for swimmers’ 
rights and access to inland waters, and provides  
clear guidance for land owners who are able to 

grant it. 

Improved access to inland water is so vital 
in showing why outdoor swimming matters. 
Swimming’s benefits, both physical and mental, 
are all the more acute when a dip is taken 
outside. The idea of more places being safe and 
accessible to all isn’t just appealing, it’s essential 
for showing why the great outdoors is there for 

all of us to share, enjoy and be part of.

This initiative is pretty exciting for all us keen 
outdoor swimmers who can’t get to the sea. 
There’s so many lakes and rivers in Britain it 
would be great to swim in, and it’s fantastic 
that Outdoor Swimming Society are leading the 
charge.  Things can change! This is how! Bring 

it on. 

” ” ”Jessica J Lee , swimmer & author of ‘Turning’   J oe Minihane, swimmer & author of ‘Floating’ 

 

Jenny Landreth, swimmer & author of ‘Swell’ 

www.outdoorswimmingsociety.com

P
age 38


	Agenda
	2 Minutes from the last meeting, 6 June 2019
	5 Presentation on Outdoor Swimming

